# Effects of different serum supplements on PiggyBac CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Microbiology Medical Microbiology,Interdisciplinary Program GRADUATE SCHOOL Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2022 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ผลของสารเสริมซีรั่มชนิดต่างๆต่อพิกกี้แบคซีดีสิบเก้าไคเมอริกแอนติเจนรีเซพเตอร์ทีเซลล์



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ (สหสาขาวิชา) สหสาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2565 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	Effects of different serum supplements on PiggyBac
	CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells
Ву	Miss Mulita Sanyanusin
Field of Study	Medical Microbiology
Thesis Advisor	KORAMIT SUPPIPAT, M.D.
Thesis Co Advisor	Professor NATTIYA HIRANKARN, M.D.

Accepted by the GRADUATE SCHOOL, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of

the Requirement for the Master of Science

	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
		Dean of the GRADUATE SCHOOL
	(Associate Professor YOOTTHANA CH	UPPUNNARAT, Ph.D.)
THESIS COMMIT	ree	
		Chairman
	(Assistant Professor Direkrit Chiewcher	ngchol, M.D.)
	([seeee	Thesis Advisor
	(KORAMIT SUPPIPAT, M.D.)	
		Thesis Co-Advisor
	(Professor NATTIYA HIRANKARN, M.D	.)
	จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิท	Examiner
	(Assistant Professor RANGSIMA REAN	TRAGOON, M.D.)
		External Examiner
	(Assistant Professor Jakrawadee Julam	nanee, M.D.)

มุลิตา แสนยานุสิน : ผลของสารเสริมซีรั่มชนิดต่างๆต่อพิกกี้แบคซีดีสิบเก้าไคเมอริกแอนติเจนรี เซพเตอร์ทีเซลล์. ( Effects of different serum supplements on PiggyBac CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : อ. นพ.กรมิษฐ์ ศุภพิพัฒน์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ศ. พญ.ณัฏฐิยา หิรัญกาญจน์

้ ใคเมอริกแอนติเจนรีเซพเตอร์ที่เซลล์เป็นวิธีการรักษาแนวใหม่สำหรับผู้ป่วยโรคมะเร็งเม็ดเลือด ขาวที่มีโรคกลับมาเป็นซ้ำหรือไม่ตอบสนองต่อการรักษา คุณลักษณะของคาร์ทีเซลล์ที่ได้จะมีความเกี่ยวข้อง กับประสิทธิภาพและผลข้างเคียงของการรักษาทางคลินิก ชนิดของสารเสริมซีรั่มที่ใช้ในขั้นตอนเพาะเลี้ยงเพื่อ เพิ่มจำนวนเซลล์ในห้องปฏิบัติการมีผลต่อคุณลักษณะและคุณสมบัติของคาร์ทีเซลล์ที่ใช้วิธีไวรัสในการผลิต ้ในงานวิจัยชิ้นนี้จะศึกษาผลกระทบของการใช้สารเสริมซีรั่มชนิดต่างๆในการผลิตพิกกี้แบคคาร์ทีเซลล์ ซึ่งเป็น ้วิธีการผลิตที่ไม่ใช้ไวรัส พิกกี้แบคซีดีสิบเก้าคาร์ทีเซลล์จะถูกเพาะเลี้ยงในห้องปฏิบัติการด้วยสารเสริมซีรั่มที่ แตกต่างกัน ได้แก่ fetal bovine serum, human AB serum, human platelet lysate และ xeno-free serum replacement จากนั้นทำการประเมินผลของการใช้สารเสริมซีรัมที่แตกต่างกัน ต่อการเพิ่มจำนวนของเซลล์. transfection efficiency, ลักษณะและส่วนประกอบของเซลล์ที่ได้ รวมถึงประสิทธิภาพในการฆ่าเซลล์มะเร็ง เป้าหมายในหลอดทดลอง ผลการทดลองพบว่าการใช้ xeno-free serum replacement มีการแสดงของคาร์ โมเลกุลบนที่เซลล์,อัตราการเจริญเติบโตของเซลล์ และประสิทธิภาพในการฆ่าเซลล์มะเร็งเป้าหมายในหลอด ทดลองเมื่อเพาะเลี้ยงร่วมกันเป็นเวลา 24 ชั่วโมงที่ไม่แตกต่างจากการใช้สารเสริมซีรั่มชนิดอื่นๆ อย่างไรก็ตาม พบว่า ในกลุ่มที่มีการใช้ xeno-free serum replacement มีจำนวนของ naïve T cell ที่เพิ่มขึ้น และ มีอัตรา การเพิ่มจำนวนของคาร์ทีเซลล์หลังจากมีการกระตุ้นเซลล์ด้วยเซลล์มะเร็งที่มีการแสดงออกของซีดีสิบเก้าเป็น ระยะเวลานานและต่อเนื่องที่สูงกว่าสารเสริมซีรั่มชนิดอื่น ดังนั้นงานวิจัยนี้แสดงผลสนับสนุนการใช้ xenofree serum replacement เป็นสารเสริมซีรั่มทางเลือกสำหรับการเพาะเลี้ยงเพื่อเพิ่มจำนวนคาร์ทีเซลล์ด้วย วิลีพิกกี้แบค

## Chulalongkorn University

สาขาวิชา	จุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ (สห	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
	์ สาขาวิชา)	
ปีการศึกษา	2565	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
		ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

#### ##6380002620: MAJOR MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY

KEYWORD: Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells, CAR T Cells, PiggyBac, CD19, Fetal bovine serum, Human AB serum, Human platelet lysate, Xeno-free serum replacement, serum supplements

> Mulita Sanyanusin : Effects of different serum supplements on PiggyBac CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells. Advisor: KORAMIT SUPPIPAT, M.D. Co-advisor: Prof. NATTIYA HIRANKARN, M.D.

Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cell is a novel therapy for relapse and refractory hematologic malignancy. Characteristics of CAR T cells is associated with clinical efficacy and toxicity. Type of serum supplements used during cultivation affect the immunophenotype and function of viral-based CAR T cells. This study explores the effect of serum supplements on nonviral piggyBac transposon CAR T cell production. PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells were expanded in cultured conditions containing either fetal bovine serum, human AB serum, human platelet lysate or xeno-free serum replacement. Then, the effect of different serum supplements on cell expansion, transfection efficiency, immunophenotypes and anti-tumor activity were evaluated. Xeno-free serum replacement exhibited comparable CAR surface expression, cell expansion, and short-term anti-tumor activity comparing with conventional serum supplements. However, CAR T cell cultivated with xeno-free and serum-free cultured condition exhibited increase naïve T cell population and better T cell expansion after long term co-culture as well as during tumor rechallenge assay. This study supports the usage of xeno-free serum replacement as an alternative source of serum supplements for PiggyBac based CAR T cell expansion.

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

Field of Study:

Academic Year:

Medical Microbiology 2022

Student's Signature
Advisor's Signature
Co-advisor's Signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This Thesis becomes an authenticity with the heartfelt support and help of many individuals. I would like to express my special gratitude and thanks to all of them.

In the first place, I would like to express my deep appreciation to my advisor Dr.Koramit Suppipat for giving me an opportunity to do this work with his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and enormous knowledge. His dedication and kindness not only support me, accept my failure but also guide and keep me on the correct path.

My sincere thanks and appreciations also go to my co-advisor and CUCIT members for providing me a necessary technical suggestions that were extremely valuable for my work both theoretically and practically.

Last but not least, I am extremely thankful to my family for their love and support. Your encouragement when the time got rough are much appreciated.

Mulita Sanyanusin

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	е
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH) iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi	
LIST OF FIGURES	
ABBREVIATIONS1	
CHAPTER 1	
BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE	
RATIONALE	
RESEARCH QUESTIONS	
HYPOTHESIS	
OBJECTIVES	
CHAPTER 2	
Chimeric antigen receptor T cells (CAR T Cells)	
Limitation of CAR T cell therapy in term of CAR persistence	
Side effect of CAR T Cells23	
CD19 CAR T Cell24	
Viral versus Non-viral CAR T cell25	
PiggyBac transposon and PB CAR T cell26	
Effect of alternative serum supplements on T cell and CAR T cell characteristic and	
function	

CHAPTER 3
RESEARCH DESIGN
METHODOLOGY
CHAPTER 4
All serum supplements similarly support the expansion of PB CD-19 CAR T cells45
Cultivation of PB CD-19 CAR T cells with SR promoted the maintenance of a naïve
memory phenotype47
SR cultured PB CD-19 CAR T cells increase IL-4 secretion, and HPL cultured PB CD-
19 CAR T cells increase IL-2, IL-10 and IL-6 secretion after antigen stimulation .50
PB CD19 CAR T cells cultivated with SR showed better proliferation in chronic and
repeated antigen exposure models52
SR cultured PB CD-19 CAR T cells exhibited lower early activation marker with similar
exhaustion profile after multiple rounds of antigen exposure
CHAPTER 5
APPENDIX A
REFERENCES
VITA CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY 78

## LIST OF FIGURES

Page	
Figure 1 Structure of Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)6	
Figure 2 Schematic of the CAR generations9	
Figure 3 Transduction method (Viral, Nonviral)11	
Figure 4 Schematic for generating CAR T cell13	
Figure 5 Schematic of lentiviral vector	
Figure 6 Schematic of PiggyBac Systems16	
Figure 7 Methodology schema	
Figure 8 Gating Strategy to determine transfection efficiency	
Figure 9 Schematic of cell phenotype	
Figure 10 Gating Strategy to determine cell subset and T cell subset	
Figure 11 Gating Strategy to determine memory phenotype	
Figure 12 Gating Strategy to determine exhaustion markers	
Figure 13 Gating Strategy to determine activation markers	
Figure 14 Schematic of 24 hr. short-term co-culture experiments at different Effector:	
Target (E: T) ratio	
Figure 15 Schematic of 7 days long term co-culture assays in G-REX system at Effector:	
Target (E: T) ratio 1:541	
Figure 16 Schematic of tumors rechallenge assay at Effector: Target (E: T) ratio 1:1 42	
Figure 17 Schematic of Cytokine release assay43	
Figure 18 The principle of Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) assay	
Figure 19 Electroporated cells expanded in different serum supplements	

Figure 20 phenotypical of PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells49
Figure 21 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells increase cytokine production after stimulations
with leukemia cells
Figure 22 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells with different serum show potent anti-tumor
activity against leukemia cell line (NALM6)
Figure 23 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells with different serum show potent anti-tumor
activity against leukemia cell line (NALM6) at various E:T ratios
Figure 24 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells expressed inhibitory molecules and activation
molecules after sequential co-culture with leukemia cells (NALM6)58



ix

## ABBREVIATIONS

CAR:	Chimeric Antigen Receptor
CAR T Cell:	Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells
CD19:	Cluster of Differentiation 19
FBS:	Fetal Bovine Serum
HS:	Human AB Serum
HPL:	Human Platelet Lysate
SR:	Serum Replacement Reagent
PB:	PiggyBac Transposon System
FDA:	Food and Drug Administration
EMA:	European Medicines Agency
GMP:	Good Manufacturing Practice
PBMCs:	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
NALM-6:	B Cell Precursor Leukemia Cell Line
IL-7:	Recombinant Human Interleukin 7
IL-15:	Recombinant Human Interleukin 15
G-REX:	Gas-Permeable Rapid Expansion Culture Device
IL-2:	Interleukin 2
IL-4:	Interleukin 4
IL-6:	Interleukin 6

- IL-10: Interleukin 10
- IFN-g: Interferon Gamma
- TNF-a: Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha
- PD-1: Programmed Cell Death Protein 1
- TIM3: T-cell Immunoglobulin and Mucin Domain 3
- LAG3: Lymphocyte Activation Gene 3
- TIGIT:





จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

#### BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE

#### Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell

Chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) T- cell therapy has delivered a major progression in the treatment of hematologic malignancies [1] CARs are engineered receptors to redirect and reprogram T cells after that infused back into the patient to specifically target and destroy cancer cells [2]. Genetically engineering T cells to express CAR targeting CD19 have significantly improved overall clinical response and survival against relapsed and refractory B cell hematologic malignancy leading to FDA and EMA approval of commercial CD19 CAR T cell products [3-5].

## CD19-targeted CAR T cells

CAR T Cells targeting the B cell molecule, CD19, are designed to transform patient's autologous T-cells into series killers against their B-Cell lymphoma [3]. The CD-19 was selected to use as scFv not only its frequent and high expression in B cell malignancies, but also its restricted expression in normal tissue [6]. Moreover, CD19 CAR T Cell demonstrated impressive outcomes such as high response rate and durable remission in patients with refractory B Cell malignancies [4]. In 2017, two CD-19-directed CAR-T cell immunotherapy received FDA approval consist of Kymriah from Novartis which used for pediatric patients and young adults with relapsed or refractory B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). Another is Yescarta from Kite Pharma which used for adults with R/R B cell lymphoma, including DLBCL and other aggressive NHL subtypes [5].

#### CAR T Cell structure

The basic structure of CAR is comprising of an extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain and a signaling domain. These domains can have a significant effect on the CAR expression , CAR function and safety for using in clinical setting [3, 7].

#### Extracellular domain

The extracellular domain is the domain of a membrane protein that is outside the cytoplasm and exposed to the extracellular space. The extracellular domain consists of **Church constructs** signal peptide, antigen recognition region and spacer. The function of signaling peptide is to direct nascent protein into the ER (endoplasmic reticulum). The single chain variable fragment (scFv) of antibodies, can theoretically recognize any type of surface antigen expressed on a target cell, including proteins and glycolipids. The interconnection between antigen binding domain and transmembrane domain depends on the spacer. The simpler form of spacer is the hinge region of lgG1 and is adequate for scFv based constructs [3, 7, 8].

#### Transmembrane domain

The transmembrane domain is composed of a hydrophobic alpha helix that extend the membrane. The consistency of the receptor is relied on the transmembrane domain. CD28 transmembrane domain is one of the most stable receptors [7]. The main function of transmembrane domain is to attach the CAR in T cell membrane nevertheless, there is evidence supports that the function of CAR T cell is related to transmembrane domain [8].

#### Signaling domain

The most common component is CD3 zeta included three immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs). After antigen recognition, the receptors cluster and signal were activated, then the signal is transmitted to the T cell [3].

#### Costimulatory domain as a solution and a solution of the solut

CAR intracellular domains are usually derived from costimulatory molecules from CD28 family (including CD28 and ICOS) or the tumor necrosis factor receptor family of genes (including 4-1BB, OX40 or CD27) CD28 and 4-1 BB are the most widely used costimulatory intracellular domains in CARs. CARs that combining CD28 or 4-1 BB intracellular domains revealed similar response rates in patients with hematologic malignancies [8].

## Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)



#### First generation

Single structure from the CD3 l- chain or FcERI $\Upsilon$  from the intracellular domain for the first generation of CARs is the typical characteristics, which is the primary transmitter of signals from endogenous T cell receptor (TCR) [7].

#### Second generation

The Second-generation CARs are made by the dual signaling domain that used for T cell activation. Three different receptor types such as the T-cell antigen receptor, cytokine receptors and co-stimulatory receptors are included. First signal which is the special signal that activated by the TCR will recognizes the antigenic peptide-MHC complex on the surface of antigen-presenting cells. Second signal is the co-stimulatory signal that created by co-stimulatory molecule such as CD28/B7 which encourage the IL-2 synthesis to accomplished T cells activation and prevent apoptosis [7].

# Third generation

The third-generation CARs were generated by combining multiple signaling domains to increase efficacy with powerful cytokine production and killing ability. The selection of co-stimulatory molecule is also significant [7].

#### Fourth generation

The fourth generation CARs were developed from second generation of CARs by adding IL-12 to the base of constructs. This generation are known as T cell redirected for universal cytokine-mediated killing (TRUCKs) which increase the T cell activation, activate and attract innate cells to eradicate antigen-negative cancer cells in targeted lesion [7]. Further, IL-12 armored CAR-T cells can enhance the proliferation and antitumor efficacy compared to conventional CARs [9].

#### Fifth generation

The fifth generation CARs aim to activate all three signals including TCR (CD3<sup>1</sup> domain), co-stimulatory (CD28 domain) and cytokine (via JAK/STAT pathway) which are required to optimal T cell activation, in an antigen dependent. The publication revealed that engineering CAR-T cells with cytokine-encoding genes enhanced the proliferation, survival and antitumor activity, compared to conventional CARs [9].



Figure 2 Schematic of the CAR generations

#### Universal CAR T cells

Universal CAR T cells generated from healthy donors that potential to overcome many immune defects associated with cancer treatment. The universal CAR T cell therapies might give an opportunity to modify the manufacturing of engineered cells and

decrease the cost of treatment when compared with autologous patient-specific T cells

[10].

#### CAR T cell manufacturing

CARs are engineered fusion protein consist of an antigen recognition domain

derived from a monoclonal antibody, T cells signaling and co-stimulatory domain. CAR T

cells product demands several cautiously performed steps, and quality control testing is

performed during the manufacturing [2].

#### <u>Apheresis</u>

CAR T cells Therapy starts with separating the patient's WBCs from whole blood by leukapheresis [11]. The blood components are normally separated by density with continuous or intermittent centrifugation methods using density gradient media. During the apheresis process, red blood cells and platelets are commonly removed in a washing step due to the red blood cells can influence the efficacy of product and platelets can lead to clumping of the cells [12].

#### <u>Activation</u>

Antigen presenting cells will stimulate naïve T cells for proliferation and differentiation. T cells are activated by interactions between the T cell receptor (TCR) and the major histocompatibility complex which located on the surface of dendritic cell and through costimulatory molecules such as CD28, 4-1BB and OX40. To avoid the burdensome process of co-culture with DCs, several methods that simulate the natural stimulation of T cells have been developed and implemented [12].

#### **Transduction**

CARs transduced by using the gene delivery that can be divided into viral and non-viral methods. For gene delivery, electroporation of naked DNA, plasmid-based transposon/ transposase systems and viral vectors have been applied. However, there are some technical problems when trying to scale up lentiviral manufacturing, including lot to lot variability but these issues have been resolved by using newer production methods. Also, the use of the transposon/transposase system manufacturing have some problems in 12% of cases included inability to grow the cells and contamination during manufacturing [11, 12].



Figure 3 Transduction method (Viral, Nonviral)

#### Expansion

To reach a cell numbers that needed for clinical application, the functionally closed systems was recommended to use for expanding T cells after gene transferring due to they can decrease the risk of contamination [11]. A variety of methods can be used including T-flasks, plates or culture bags and bioreactors such as the G-Rex flask which is a cell culture flask with a gas-permeable membrane at the base allows cells to grow to a high density without compromising gas exchange [13].

Even though, there are many choices of culture medium but still need a move toward to use of serum free formulations such as X-VIVO 10 and AIM-V. Interleukin 2 (IL-2) or interleukin7 (IL-7) plus interleukin-15 (IL-15) plays as a center-dependent. From a practical approach, it is crucial for CAR T-cell manufacturing to ensure their supply chain and to be able to verify other GMP-compliant reagents and expendables to protect their process [14].



Figure 4 Schematic for generating CAR T cell

#### Viral based CAR T cell versus Non-viral CAR T cell

An important barrier of CARs is developing a proper CAR expression vector capable of genetically modifying a wide population of T cells. Both viral and non-viral vectors are used to produce CAR T cells [15].

#### Viral based CAR T cell

Using viral gene transfer, retroviral or lentiviral, which required for T cell activation and can lead to high efficiencies of transduction. Basic viral vectors that required for viral survival and function are the gag, pol and env genes, gag encodes structural proteins, pol encodes enzymes which needed for reverse transcription and integration into the genome of host cell, and env encodes the viral envelope glycoprotein [16].

The limitation of viral vectors consists of the safety issues caused by the high limited capacity for multigene insertion, co-transduction, large manufacturing cost and produce genotoxicity [17, 18]. To solve these problems, the non-viral gene transfer was used to achieve the forced expression of the introduced ectopic CAR [19].



Figure 5 Schematic of lentiviral vector

#### Non-Viral based CAR T cell

Genetic modification of T cells using transposon system as merging plasmids is an appealing replacement [20]. A nonviral vector for highly efficient site-specific integration would be useful for numerous applications in transgenesis, as well as gene therapy [21]. Transposon system is a hopeful non-viral technique for stable genetic modification [22].

#### <u>PiggyBac transposon system</u>

PiggyBac (PB) transposon system is composed of PiggyBac transposase, and a separate transfer plasmid carrying transgene of interest [23]. The PiggyBac element inserts a transgene between the inverted repeat elements and the transposition activity is enabled by supplying the PiggyBac transposase enzyme from a separate transgene into the genome at TTAA nucleotide elements [11, 17]. Previous works have demonstrated that PiggyBac based CD19 CAR T cell achieved satisfactory transduction efficiency and prominent anti-tumor activity [24] with similar integration profile comparing with viral vector [17]. Currently, PiggyBac transposon system provides alternative strategy to avoid viral vector related issues leading to more flexible and cost-effective CAR T cell manufacturing.



#### Fetal Bovine serum in cell culture and limitation

Fetal bovine sera (FBS) are most commonly used as a standard supplement for T cell and CAR T cells expansion [26]. However, FBS has raised several concerns, including the risk of contamination from bovine spongiform encephalopathy, increased immunogenicity, and ethical issues [27-29]. Previous studies have reported the use of FBS for cell cultivation causing immune reactions and anaphylaxis in patients that can affect the therapeutic outcome [28, 30]. Thus, alternative serum supplements have been developed to overcome the limitation of FBS [29, 31].

#### Alternatives serum supplement in T cell/CAR T cell culture

Human AB serum (ABS or HS) generated from human serum from type AB donors that lacks antibodies against the A and B blood-type antigens. In a clinical setting ABS is the most common media supplement for T cell culture and ABS also **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** supply limitations and may not be sufficient to meet the expected demand for immunotherapies [32]. Moreover, human serum is expensive, requires additional agent testing and could potentially contain emerging infectious agents [33].

Human platelet lysate (HPL) generated from common platelet units by a simple freeze-thawing procedure. For the production of clinical cell therapies, HPL is widely recognized as a valuable replacement to both FBS and human AB serum [32].

Therefore, HPL can support the cell growth and proliferation, as platelets plays a crucial function in tissue renewal and wound healing [31]. The disadvantage includes danger of transmission of human disease by known or unknown human viruses [28].

Serum-free medium does not include any serum either from animal or human but in replacement of serum or plasma, supplements are sometimes included [28]. Additional, serum-free medium reduces operating costs and process variability and removes a potential source of infectious agents [34]. The use of serum-free medium is beneficial because they have defined formula, less lot-to-lot variability and offer a more consistent production of CD19 CAR T Cells [35].

However, there are still limited evidence on the effect of differential serum supplements on non-viral based CAR T cells, in which the gene transferring process depends on electroporation that can heavily impact cell viability and healthiness. Therefore, in this study evaluated the effect of different serum supplements including Fetal bovine serum (FBS), Human AB serum (HS)(Xeno-free serum),Human platelet lysate(HPL)(Xeno-free serum) and Serum Replacement (SR)(Xeno-free and serum-free chemically defined reagent) on PiggyBac CD-19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells (PB CD-19 CAR T cells) characteristics and function.

#### RATIONALE

FBS have several limitations on GMP compliance production of CAR T cell. Alternative serum supplements are needed to be explored for replacing FBS in GMP compliance manufacturing of CAR T cell. There are several evidence indicated that alternative source of serum supplement can influence the CAR T Cell characteristics in viral based CAR T cell transduction. Currently, there is no evidence on the effect of alternative serum source on non-viral based CAR T cell. This study will compare the effect of different serum supplements (FBS, HS, HPL and Serum replacement) on PiggyBac CD-19 CAR T cell characteristic and function.

#### RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Research questions of this study are:

#### ุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

1. Does different type of serum supplement affect the characteristics of CD-19

CAR T cell generated by PiggyBac Transposon systems

2. Can serum replacement (SR) be used for PiggyBac transposon based in CD-19

CAR T cell manufacturing

#### **HYPOTHESIS**

We hypothesize that Serum replacement can be used for PiggyBac CD-19 CAR

T Cells manufacturing with good expansion, phenotype and function compared to FBS.

#### **OBJECTIVES**

The objectives of this study are:

1. To compare the effects of different serum supplement on PiggyBac CD-19 CAR

T cell expansion

- To compare the effects of different serum supplement on PiggyBac CD-19 CAR T cell phenotype
- 3. To compare the effects of different serum supplement on PiggyBac CD-19 CAR

T cell function

#### CHAPTER 2

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Chimeric antigen receptor T cells (CAR T Cells)

The important advantages of CAR T cells therapy are the capability of T cell to expand, proliferation and persistence through the memory T cells. CARs are synthetic molecule including signal domain and antigen binding domain that derived from monoclonal antibody from either murine or humanized [36].

#### First generation versus Second generation of CARs

To reveal the importance of costimulatory domain, clinical studies utilization the first-generation CAR T cell and found the limited efficacy and persistent of CAR T cells. In the same way, Baylor College of Medicine treated relapse/refractory B-NHL patient with first-generation and second- generation CD19 CAR T cell. They noticed that the second generation that containing CD28 costimulatory domain had a superior expansion and persistence of CAR T cell products, highlighting the crucial of CAR T-cell costimulatory domain [37].

#### 41BB versus CD28 costimulatory domains

Most widely co-stimulatory domain in second generation of CARs is CD28 or 4-1 BB. Several studies revealed that CAR T cell incorporate with 4-1BB domain showed higher persistence of CAR T cell in recipient. In pediatric patients that treated with CD19 CAR T cell incorporate 4-1BB revealed a greater rate of minimal residual disease negative and complete response [37].

Consistency with Xiangyu zhao et al. that investigated the efficacy and safety concern of CD28- or 4-1BB based CD19 CAR T cells in r/r B-ALL therapy. In B-ALLbearing mice model found that when gave the CAR T dose approximately 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells, 4-1BB group are more great eradicated tumor cells and prolong the persistence than CD28 leading to superior antitumor efficacy and less severe adverse events [38].

### Limitation of CAR T cell therapy in term of CAR persistence

Long-term persistence is one of major important factor for durable remission in hematologic malignancies. Several documentations from pre-clinical and clinical studies reveals that to manufacturing CAR T cell, the final product which was enriched of less differentiated T cell, naïve T cell or central memory T cell, will provide the superior tumor clearance than the CAR T Cell which was enrichment of effector T cell or effector memory T cell. Also, The CAR T cells that maintained the less differentiated T cells

resulting in prolong immune surveillance after antigen clearance and can predictive the successful expansion and sustained remission in clinical application [39].

Clinical evidence reported that for adoptive transfer therapy the less differentiated T cells is important for antitumor efficacy and patient outcome due to this phenotype increased the expansion, persistence, and ability to differentiate into effector progeny [40].

To enhance CAR T cell persistence from the perspective of control the T cell differentiation, the choice of cytokine and media play a crucial role. Normally, *In vitro* culture system frequently used IL-2 for T cells expansion and differentiation. However, the use of IL-2 will support the formation of terminally T cells and development of regulatory T cells. To solve this issues, other cytokine that support the less differentiated T cells will use as a replacement of IL-2 such as IL-7 and IL-15. Also, the choice of the culture media plays an importance role in the CAR T cells persistence and durable control disease. [40]

#### Side effect of CAR T Cells

The progress of CAR T cell therapy is obstructed by several serious adverse events as an example cytokine released syndrome, neurotoxicity, and on-target off tumor toxicity [41]. For cytokine release syndrome (CRS) is an important side effect of CAR T cell therapy. CRS is an immune over-activation caused by multiple cytokines produced by CAR T cell. The structure of co-stimulatory domain of CARs can induce cell activation, proliferation and increases effector function when the receptor molecules bind to target antigen led to overproduction of cytokines. Accordance with the data, a level of CRS is required in immune response due to cytokine production illustrate the CAR T cells were activated and function after infusing to patients [41].

#### CD19 CAR T Cell

Kathryn M. Cappell and colleagues investigate the long-term outcomes of anti-CD19 CAR T cell therapy in relapsed B cell malignancies patients that participated in phase 1 clinical trial. They found that the durable ongoing remission lasting up to 113 months for follicular lymphoma, 99 months for CLL and 97 months for DLBCL/PMBCL .

Also, the long-term adverse effects were rare [42].

In the same way, Nirali N Shah and colleagues conducted a phase 1 of CD19.28z CAR T cell in children and young adults with relapsed or refractory B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), They found that 62% achieved a complete remission and 90.3% were minimal residual disease. With 4.8 years follow up, median overall survival rate is equal 10.5 months. For those underwent the allogeneic

hematopoietic stem-cell transplant (alloHSCT), median overall survival rate is equal 70.2 months, the rate of relapse after alloHSCT was 9.5% at 24 months and 5 years disease free survival following alloHSCT was 61.9% [43].

#### Viral versus Non-viral CAR T cell

Up to the present time, the frequently common method to generate CAR T cell is use a viral- based vectors or non-viral vectors. The use of viral vector may provide a higher efficiency of CAR T cells unfortunately, viral vectors carry the barrier in CAR T cells manufacturing not only the insert site of transported DNA limited but also difficulty in producing high titers of stable vector particles. According to current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) the use of non-viral vectors become more feasible for clinical grade manufacturing. A non-viral vector represented by transposons-based system and this system provide safe and reliable DNA transfers. The sleeping beauty (SB) transposon system can be used as a replacement for viral based vectors. However, the integration profile of SB transposon guite random due to their integration at TA sites. The outstanding competition of SB transposon systems is PiggyBac (PB) transposon system that uses a simple cut and paste mechanism. The integration site of PB system is not random because PB usually prefers TTAA sites. The use of PB system exhibited higher transposition activity in mammalian cells [44, 45].

Zhicai Lin and colleague investigate the effect of piggyBac transposons system and Lentivirus vector on CD19 CAR T cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. Both piggyBac and Lentivirus CD19 CAR T cells were not significant different in percentage of CAR positive cell , anti-tumor activity and level of IFN-g secretion. Interestingly, PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells can maintain the level of central memory T cell higher than lentivirus CD19 CAR T cells resulting in superior persistence. In xenograft mouse model, both piggyBac and lentivirus CD19 CAR T cells strongly inhibited the tumors cells however more mice treated with piggyBac can survive longer than mice treated with lentivirus. These results support that piggyBac system have specific activities and function, making it an effective tool for generating CAR T cell that can be used in adoptive transfer therapy [46].

PiggyBac transposon and PB CAR T cell

Daniel L. Galvan and colleague investigate piggyBac integrations in a primary human T lymphocyte. They found that piggyBac have a higher ability to integrate as a stably transfection and offered an efficiency approximately 40 % in primary human T cells [18].

Similarly, Yozo Nakazawa et al. studied the potential of piggyBac system for adoptive transfer therapy in human T lymphocyte. The results revealed that without
selection the piggyBac system mediated a stable expression approximately 20 %. During culturing period, T cell that cultivated with IL-15 can increased the level of expression to 40 % and the expression were sustained over 9 weeks in culture [20].

Then, Daisuke Morita et al. try to improve the manufacturing of piggyBacmodified CD19 by adding the autologous activated T cells as a feeder cells , stimulated T cells via viral antigen and using a CH2CH3free in CD19 CAR construct to provide a better persistence and function. They found that more than 30% of T cell express the CAR gene via adding autologous activated T cells as a feeder cells and viral antigen. CAR expression increases to 51.4 %  $\pm$  14 % by using CH2CH3free in CD19 CAR construct. Moreover, when starting as 10 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells of PBMCs after 14 days culturing CAR T cell were expanded to 27.8  $\pm$  28.0 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells. In summary, piggyBac system can be used as an alternative to viral gene transfer for CAR T cell therapy [24].

#### าหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Kayoko Nakamura and colleague attempt to improve the quality and efficacy of

CAR T cell therapy that characterized by memory-rich phenotype and lower expression of exhaustion by using piggyBac HER2 CAR T cells models. They found that excess stimulation may cause cell death , the use of tumor cell-based feeder or PBMC will enhance the efficacy of transposon mediate CAR manufacturing. However, the use of tumor cell as a feeder cell may require longer expansion period, enrich of effector phenotype, and induce the T cell exhaustion. The antigen presenting feeder cell offer physiologic interaction that mimic the immune system leading to optimal activation and expansion of memory-rich CAR. In this study, piggyBac HER2 CAR T cells can maintain less differentiated T cell and with minimal PD1 expression resulting to sustained tumor control *in vitro* and *in vivo* [47].

Correspondingly, the quality of CAR T cells therapy are related to memory phenotype and exhaustion levels which was affect the long-term persistence and function of CAR T cell product. To solve with these issue, Masaya Suematsu and colleague evaluate the advantage of CD45RA positive subpopulation as a starting material for generating piggyBac CD19 CAR T cells. They generate piggyBac CD19 CAR T cells from CD45RA positive and CD45RA negative PBMC subpopulation then compare the phenotype and function. The data indicated that piggyBac CD45RA positive CAR T cells have a higher efficiency after 24 hours transduction and better expansion capacity after 14 days of culturing periods. Also, piggyBac CD45RA positive CAR T cells can decrease the expression of exhaustion markers, senescent markers, and enrichment of less differentiated T cells. In vivo data demonstrate that piggyBac CD45RA positive CAR T cells can prolong tumor control and support the expansion of CAR T cells even after 50 days of treatment. In this study suggest that piggyBac CD45RA positive CAR T cells can maintain memory-rich phenotype and provide superior antitumor function than CD45RA negative [48].

# Effect of alternative serum supplements on T cell and CAR T cell characteristic and function

#### The effect of Human AB serum (ABS or HS)

Andrew R. Medvec and colleagues develop a fully defined medium that could expand all human T cell subsets in the absence of human serum. Then they investigate the ability of serum- free media to expand T cells for adoptive T cell therapy when compared with human serum, they found that human serum may include the agents that harmful for T cell expansion and survival. Moreover, human serum decreased T cell functionality in vitro and in vivo [33].

In the same way, Saba Ghassemi and colleagues investigate the effect of concentrated growth factor extract, purified from human transfusion grade blood fractions, can supports in CAR T cell expansion, and function they found that human serum provides additional stimuli for cell proliferation and survival without any xenogenic components. However, higher concentrations of human serum can suppress T cell growth. [49]

#### The effect of Human Platelet Lysate (HPL)

Alejandro Torres Chaves and colleagues evaluate the effect of different sera containing Fetal bovine serum (FBS), Human AB serum (ABS) and Human platelet lysate (HPL) on CAR T cell function *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. They found that *in vitro* experiment HPL-exposed CAR T cells showed higher level of Naïve T cell and Memory T cell with superior proliferation and anti-tumor effects in long term. In mouse xenograft model, HPL-exposed CAR T cells can enhance *in vivo* anti-tumor effects and percent of survival. For *ex vivo* experiment, HPL exhibited enhanced anti-tumor response with higher proliferation of CAR T cells. Also, HPL-exposed CAR T cells generated from patient's PBMCs reveal superior anti-tumor effect in long term *in vitro* coculture experiments [50].

Emanuele Canestrari and colleagues explore the use of human platelet lysate (HPL) compared to standard serum supplement including fetal bovine serum (FBS) and human AB serum (ABS) for modified T cell production. They discover that the transduction efficiency with three different promoters were similar in all 3 conditions but a moderate increase in transgene product (MFI fold change) was observed in HPL group when compared with ABS. For T cell expansion in HPL was comparable when compared with ABS but slightly less than the expansion in FBS group. Interestingly, HPL showed a higher percentage of central memory T cell phenotype when compared with

FBS and ABS. These results suggest that the use of HPL as a serum supplement during the production of modified T cells is a reasonable alternative to ABS [32].

#### <u>The effect of Xeno-free serum replacement (SR)</u>

Andrew R. Medvec and colleagues develop a fully defined medium that could expand all human T cell subsets in the absence of human serum. They investigate the ability of serum- free media to expand T cells for adoptive T cell therapy and found that expanding T cell in the serum free medium improves both the functionality and durability of engineered T cell also provide the durable anti-tumor response [33].

Karoline W Schjetne and colleagues develop a xeno-free serum replacement supplement to support ex vivo expansion and lentiviral transduction of polyclonal T cells, they observed that serum replacement showed the similar growth kinetics, total fold expansion and transduction efficiency when compared with pooled human serum. Number of CD4 positive and CD8 positive were comparable. In the restimulation T cells setting, serum replacement showed the similar cytokine profile together with proliferation when compared with human serum [51].

Corey Smith and colleagues investigate the use of xeno-free serum replacement (SR) as an alternative to both HS and FBS in ex vivo expansion of human T cells, they noticed that xeno-free serum replacement (SR) promote the efficient ex vivo expansion

of polyclonally activated T cells similar to HS. However, T cells cultured in SR were predominantly with the central memory T cell phenotype. Additionally, they also investigate the use of G-Rex in culture system with SR and found that SR can be used effectively to optimize the expansion of antigen specific T cells. Then, they summarize that SR provides a novel platform strategy for clinical grade adoptive cellular therapies manufacturing.



### CHAPTER 3

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **RESEARCH DESIGN**



#### CHILLALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Volunteers are eligible to be included in the study only if all of the following criteria

apply:

1. Capable of giving signed informed consent and provision of signed and dated

written ICF prior to any mandatory study specific procedure and analyses

- Volunteers must be ≥ 18 years of age at the time of signing the informed consent. All genders are permitted.
- 3. No history of immunodeficiency and hematologic malignancy

#### Exclusion criteria

Volunteers are excluded from the study if any of the following criteria apply:

- 1. Prior or current treatment with immunosuppressive drugs or chemotherapy
- 2. For women- currently pregnant or breast-feeding
- 3. Previous allogenic bone marrow transplant

#### Sample collection

The samples from healthy volunteers will be obtained after signing of informed consent and procedures will be performed with the approval of Institutional Ethics Committee of Chulalongkorn University.

Population

Healthy volunteers in Thailand

#### METHODOLOGY

#### Primary cell and cell lines

NALM-6 cell was maintained in RPMI 1640 medium, supplemented with 1X Glutamax (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, U.S.), 1% PenicillinStreptomycin, and 10% Heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, U.S.).

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were obtained from healthy volunteers after informed consent on protocols approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University (IRB NO.489/64). All experiments were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. Generation of PB CD-19 CAR T cells Cells with different serum supplements

PBMCs were isolated from peripheral blood samples by density gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque<sup>TM</sup> PREMIUM (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences AB, Sweden). To generate CAR T cells, PBMCs 4 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells were mixed with P3 Primary Cell 4D-Nucleofector X Kit reagent (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) that contained piggyBac transposon plasmid carrying CD-19 CAR and transposase plasmid. Afterward, the PBMCs were electroporated by using a 4D-Nucleofector machine (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland). Electroporated cells were cultured in 48 well plates that contained TexMACS medium (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, German) plus 5% of different serum supplements including Fetal bovine serum (FBS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, U.S.), Human AB serum (HS, Sigma Life Science, Saint Louis, USA), Human platelet lysate (HPL, Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada) and Serum Replacement (SR, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, U.S.), and 10 ng/ml of IL-7, 5 ng/ml of IL-15.

Electroporated cells were cultured with irradiated PBMC at a 1:1 ratio. After transfection, cells will be cultured for 14 days during that time culture media plus 5% of different serum supplements were changed on days 4, 7, and 10 after transfection with 10 ng/ml of IL-7 and 5 ng/ml of IL-15. Cell count was done to determine cell number and fold expansion.



#### Comparing the expansion of PiggyBac CD-19 CAR T Cells

On day 7 and 14 after transfection, PB CD-19 CAR T cells will count the viability cell using Trypan Blue and PB CD-19 CAR T cells were aliquoted approximately 2x10<sup>5</sup> cells for measure transfection efficiency by flow cytometry. Percent of cell expansion

and fold change were calculated. The formular of total cell = (total live cell ÷ number of

counting corner) x dilution factor x suspension volume x  $10^{4}$  (chamber volume) and the formular of fold change = number of cells at the interesting time point  $\div$  number of cells at the beginning.



Figure 8 Gating Strategy to determine transfection efficiency

#### Comparing the phenotype of PiggyBac CD-19 CAR T Cells

On day 14 after transfection, PB CD-19 CAR T cells that culture with different of serum supplement were harvested and aliquoted approximately 2x10<sup>5</sup> cells per test to determine cells phenotype including cell subset (CD3,CD56,CD14,CD19),T cell subset (CD3,CD4,CD8), Memory Phenotype (CD45RO, CD62L), Exhaustion marker (PD-1,TIM-3,LAG-3,TIGIT) and Activation marker (CD25, CD69) by using Flow cytometry. Likewise, cells were stained with antibodies for 15 min at 4° C and washed with staining buffer 4 ml after that the supernatant will be discarded. The pellet will be resuspended in 500 ul of staining buffer.



Figure 10 Gating Strategy to determine cell subset and T cell subset



Figure 11 Gating Strategy to determine memory phenotype



Figure 12 Gating Strategy to determine exhaustion markers



Figure 13 Gating Strategy to determine activation markers

#### Comparing the function of PiggyBac CD-19 CAR T Cells

#### Short term co-culture assay

The short-term antitumor activity of PB CD-19 CAR T cells was examined by coculturing of effector T cells with the NALM6 cell line at effector/target (E: T) ratios of 1:25, 1:5, 1:1 and 5:1 in 96 well plate with TexMACS medium plus 5% FBS without cytokines for 24 hours. At the end of culture, the absolute number of effector and target cell was determined using flow cytometry, and the percentage of inhibition was calculated using the following formula:

Inhibition =  $100 - (\frac{number of Target (experiment)}{number of Target (Target alone)} \times 100)$ 

T cells were analyzed for the expression of activation and exhaustion markers

using flow cytometry.

**O** hours

24 hours

Evaluate anti-tumor activity at

24 hr. by using flow cytometry

- Seed CD19 CAR T Cells to NALM-6 with different ratio below

- Target alone (1x 10<sup>5</sup>NALM6)
- E:T 1:25(4x10<sup>3</sup> CAR :1x 10<sup>5</sup>NALM6)
- E:T 1:5 (2x10<sup>4</sup>CAR :1x 10<sup>5</sup>NALM6)
- E:T 1:1 (1x 10<sup>5</sup> CAR :1x 10<sup>5</sup>NALM6)
- E:T 5:1 (5x 10<sup>5</sup> CAR :1x 10<sup>5</sup>NALM6)

- Evaluate Baseline anti-tumor activity by using flow cytometry

Figure 14 Schematic of 24 hr. short-term co-culture experiments at different Effector: Target (E: T) ratio.

Long term co-culture assay

The antitumor activity and expansion of PB CD-19 CAR T cells was examined by co-culturing of effector T cells with the NALM-6 cell line at E: T ratio of 1:5 in G-REX 24well plate (Wilson Wolf, USA) with TexMACS medium plus 5% FBS without cytokines for 7 days. At the end of culture, the absolute number of effector and target cell was determined using flow cytometry, and the percentage of inhibition was calculated as mentioned above. T cells were analyzed for expansion and the expression of CAR, activation markers, exhaustion markers using flow cytometry.



Figure 15 Schematic of 7 days long term co-culture assays in G-REX system at Effector: Target (E: T) ratio 1:5.

Tumors rechallenge assay

The antitumor activity and expansion of the PB CD-19 CAR T cells was examined by co-culturing with NALM-6 cell line at effector/target (E:T) ratios 1:1 for 24 hours. Then cells were harvested and counted for total cell number then absolute T cells number were calculated from the percentage of T cell determined by flow cytometry. Afterward, T cells were replated and coculture with fresh NALM-6 cell line at a ratio 1:1. Cell counting and replating were repeated every 24 hours for 3 rounds.

After co-culturing for 24 hours in each round, PB CD-19 CAR T cells were analyzed for the percentage of T cell and tumor cell, the expression of activation markers, and exhaustion markers using flow cytometry.

all 11/1/2

Seed CD19 CAR T Cells to	- Evaluate anti-tumor activity	- Evaluate anti-tumor activity	Evaluate anti-tumor activity
NALM-6 at a ratio 1:1	- Add the fresh NALM6 at ratio 1:1	- Add the fresh NALM6 at ratio 1:1	
O hours	24 hours	48 hours	72 hours
(Before co-culture)	(1 <sup>st</sup> round)	(2 <sup>nd</sup> round)	(3 <sup>rd</sup> round)

Figure 16 Schematic of tumors rechallenge assay at Effector: Target (E: T)

ratio 1:1.

Cytokine releasing assay

## Chulalongkorn University

PB CD-19 CAR T cells were co-cultured with NALM6 at an E:T ratio of 1:1 for 24

h. Culture supernatants were then collected and stored at -20°C. Quantification of cytokines was analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD<sup>™</sup> CBA Human Th1/Th2 Cytokine Kit II (BD Bioscience, USA), and the data were analyzed by FCAP Array version 4 software (BD Bioscience, USA).



Figure 17 Schematic of Cytokine release assay



Data are presented as means ± SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8 (GraphPad Software). One-way and two-way ANOVA was used to determine statistical significance. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University (approval number: 489/64, date of approval, June 14, 2021. Informed consent was signed by all participants.



#### **CHAPTER 4**

#### RESULTS

All serum supplements similarly support the expansion of PB CD-19 CAR T cells

First, we compared the effects of different serum supplements on PB CD19 CAR T cell expansion. Electroporated cells were cultured in TexMACS plus 5% of FBS, HS, HPL and SR for 14 days and the cells were collected on day 7 and day 14 for further analyses (Figures 19A). There were not statistically significant between total cell number and fold expansion among the 4 sources of serum supplement (Figures 19B and 19C). On day 7 after electroporation, the transduction efficiency was  $19.03\% \pm 3.41, 13.75\%$  $\pm$  3.53, 10.89%  $\pm$  3.19, and 13.69%  $\pm$  2.70 for FBS, HS, HPL, and SR respectively, which was increased to 52.79%  $\pm$  6.42 (FBS), 37.36%  $\pm$  6.315 (HS), 35.4%  $\pm$  5.89 (HPL), and 41.77%  $\pm$  5.40 (SR) on day 14. Although we observed a slightly higher percentage of CAR expression in CD19 PiggyBac CAR T cell cultured with FBS, there were not statistically significant of transfection efficiency and absolute CAR T cell number among four conditions (Figures 19D, 19E, and 19F). As a result, the different of serum supplements didn't affect the cell expansion and transfection efficiency.

А



Figure 19 Electroporated cells expanded in different serum supplements.

(A) Schematic CAR T cell generation. (B) Expansion of total cells in different serum supplement. (C) Data of total cell expansion represent as fold expansion on 0, 7 and 14. (D) Representative flow cytometry plot demonstrating CAR expression on day 7 and day 14 after transfection. (E) Transfection efficiency of CAR (F) CAR+ T cell numbers were calculated by total cell number and percentage of CD3+CAR+ cells on days 7 and 14 after transfection, The data shown are mean  $\pm$  S.E.M (n=7). Significance was determined by one-way ANOVA.

# Cultivation of PB CD-19 CAR T cells with SR promoted the maintenance of a naïve memory phenotype

We next evaluated the immune-phenotypic profile of PB CD-19 CAR T cells cultured in different serum supplements and found that there were no difference in percentage of CD3<sup>+</sup> T cell and CD4:CD8 ratio of CAR T cells cultured with four different serum supplements (Figures 20A, 20B, 20C and 20D). Memory phenotype was determined by expression of CD45RO and CD62L as depicted by figure 20E. The percentage of terminal effector T cell and central memory T cell were comparable between four groups. However, PB CD-19 CAR T cells cultured with HS exhibited higher percentage of effector memory T cell comparing with those cultured with FBS, HPL and SR and the percentage of naïve T cell was highest in a group of CAR T cells cultivated with SR [37.68% $\pm$  2.17 (FBS), 27.13% $\pm$  3.4(HS), 17.38%  $\pm$  0.921(HPL), and 55.24% $\pm$ 9.83(SR), p-value =0.0056] (Figures 20F). In addition, we evaluated exhaustion and activation markers of PB CD-19 CAR T cells after 14 day of culture and observed no difference in between each group (Figures 20G and 20H). In summary, cell subset, exhaustion and activation were comparable in all conditions. However, SR-cultivated PB CD19 CAR T cells exhibited the higher level of naïve phenotype.





#### Figure 20 phenotypical of PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells.

The phenotypical of CAR T cells were analyzed on day 14 after transfection (A) Representative flow cytometry plot demonstrating the cell subset stained with fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD3 and anti-CD56 on day 14 after T cell transfection. (B) Mean percentage of CD3+CD56+ are shown. (C) Representative flow cytometry plot demonstrating T cell subset, stained with fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 antibodies. (D) Mean percentage of CD3+CD8+: CD3+CD4+ ratio on day 14 after transfection are shown. (E) Representative flow cytometry analysis of memory phenotype. The memory phenotypical of CAR T cells were analyzed on day 14 after transfection, CAR T cells were stained with anti-CD45RO and anti-CD62L antibody (TEM: CD45RO+, CD62L-, TCM: CD45RO+, CD62L+, TN: CD45RO-, CD62L+, TE: CD45RO-,CD62L-). (F) Phenotype of T cells on day 14 after transfection shown the percentage of naïve (TN), central memory (TCM), effector memory (TEM), and terminal effector (TE) T cells. (G) The phenotype of T cells on day 14 after transfection showed the percentage of exhaustion markers including PD-1, TIGIT, LAG3, and TIM3. (H) The phenotype of T cells on day 14 after transfection showed the percentage of activation markers including CD25, and CD69. Data represents as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M (n = 8) and significance was determined by one-way ANOVA, \* for p<0.05, \*\* for p<0.01, \*\*\* for P<0.001.

SR cultured PB CD-19 CAR T cells increase IL-4 secretion, and HPL cultured PB CD-19 CAR T cells increase IL-2, IL-10 and IL-6 secretion after antigen stimulation

To determine the CAR T cell cytokine secretion profile, PB CD-19 CAR T cells expanded with either FBS, HS, HPL, or SR were harvested on day 14 and subjected for target cell stimulation. Measurement level of cytokine after antigen stimulation revealed a nonsignificant of IFN-g and TNF-a among 4 conditions (Figures 21A and 21B). However, we found a significant increase of IL-4 level after 24 hours antigen stimulation in SR group [9.793 pg/ml  $\pm$  3.309 (FBS), 7.166 pg/ml  $\pm$  1.63(HS), 3.70 pg/ml  $\pm$  0.885(HPL), and 23.859 pg/ml  $\pm$  5.419 (SR), p-value =0.0024]. Whereas the level of IL-2, IL-10, and IL-6 were significant increase in HPL group. For IL-2, 2649.14 pg/ml  $\pm$  362.59 (FBS), 4448.18 pg/ml  $\pm$  1458.49 (HS), 11715.52 pg/ml  $\pm$  2049.76 (HPL), and 3394.64 pg/ml  $\pm$ 647.21 (SR), p-value =0.0003]. For IL-10, 19.61 pg/ml  $\pm$  4.84 (FBS), 27.51 pg/ml  $\pm$  4.7 (HS), 51.22 pg/ml  $\pm$  7.78 (HPL), and 22.81 pg/ml  $\pm$  2.77 (SR), p-value =0.0028]. For IL-6, 35.52 pg/ml  $\pm$  23.50 (FBS), 51.33 pg/ml  $\pm$  13.85 (HS), 192.996 pg/ml  $\pm$  49.55 (HPL), and 41.98 pg/ml  $\pm$  17.36 (SR), p-value =0.0074]. (Figures 21C, 21D, 21E and 21F). To sum up, IFN-g and TNF-a were comparable in all conditions, but SR-cultivated PB CD19 CAR T cells exhibited a higher level of IL-4. On the other hand, HPL-cultivated PB CD19 CAR T cells exhibited a higher level of IL-2,IL-6, and IL-10.



Figure 21 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells increase cytokine production after

stimulations with leukemia cells.

PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells were co-cultured with leukemia cell line, NALM6 at Effector: Target (E: T) ratio 1:1 without adding cytokine for 24 hours. Quantification of flow cytometric analysis of cytokine including (A) IFN-g, (B) TNF-a, (C) IL-2, (D) IL-10, (E) IL-4, and (F) IL-6 secretion after co-culture. *P*-value significance is indicated as \* for p<0.05, \*\* for p<0.01\*\*\* for p<0.001. Data represents is mean ± SEM (n = 8).

# PB CD19 CAR T cells cultivated with SR showed better proliferation in chronic and repeated antigen exposure models

To evaluate cytolytic function and antigen specificity of CAR T cells maintained in different serum supplements, we performed a 24-h co-culture assay with various E:T ratio and found that PB CD19 CAR T cell cultured with either FBS, HS, HPL, or SR displayed potent cytotoxic function against CD19+ target in a dose dependent manner with the percent inhibition rate was more than 90% at E:T ratio of 1:5. There were no statistically significant of inhibition ratio between each conditions (Figure 22A and 22B). We then performed a long-term co-culture assay to evaluate long-term anti-tumor activity and T cell proliferation (Figures 22C). At the end of 7-day co-culturing, CAR T cells from four differential serum supplements exhibited comparable potent antitumor activity, where the tumor cells were barely detected (Figure 22D and 22E). Interestingly, only CAR T cell expanded with SR has significantly higher T cell expansion after 7 days of co-culturing with target compared with FBS, HS, and HPL (Figure 22F). Additionally, CAR expression after co-culturing with target cells was determined and showed to be comparable among four groups (Figure 22G and 22H).

To imitate the chronic antigen stimulation *in vivo*, we evaluated the anti-tumor and proliferation capacity of CAR T cells after multiple rounds of antigen exposure using a sequential co-culture assay(Figure 23A). We found that PB CD-19 CAR T cells from all four groups completely eliminated tumor cells during each round of tumor re-challenge, but the SR group exhibited significantly higher T cells proliferation after multiple rounds of tumor re-challenge comparing with FBS group, HS group, and HPL group (Figures 23B, 23C and 23D). This result is consistent with those observed in 7-day co-culturing assay. As a conclusion, anti-tumor activities were comparable in all conditions. Although, a higher T cell proliferation after antigen stimulations were observed in SR group.





Figure 22 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells with different serum show potent anti-

tumor activity against leukemia cell line (NALM6).

54

PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells were co-cultured with leukemia cell line, NALM-6 at Effector: Target (E: T) ratio 5:1, 1:1, 1:5 and 1:25 without adding cytokine for short-term co-culture (24 hours), at Effector: Target (E: T) ratio 1:1 for sequential co-culture for 24 hours in each round. At the indicated point, number of tumor cells and T cells were determined by flow cytometry. (A) Representative flow cytometry of short-term co-culture at ratio 1:1 are shown. (B) The Inhibition ratio of short-term co-culture at 24 hours of coculture is calculated. Data represents is mean ± SEM (n = 5). (C) Schematic of 7days long-term co-culture experiments at Effector: Target (E: T) ratio 1:5. (D) Representative flow cytometry of long-term co-culture at ratio 1:5 are shown. (E) The number of Target cells, after long-term co-culture with NALM-6 for 7 days at ratio E:T of 1:5. (F) The number of Total T cells, after long-term co-culture with NALM-6 for 7 days at ratio E:T of 1:5. (G) Representative flow cytometry plot demonstrating CAR expression on 7 days long-term co-culture experiments. (H) Efficiency at days 7 after long-term coculture. Pvalue significance is indicated as \* for P<0.05, \*\* for P<0.01, \*\*\* for P<0.001, \*\*\*\* for P<0.0001. Data represents is mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 4).



Figure 23 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T Cells with different serum show potent antitumor activity against leukemia cell line (NALM6) at various E:T ratios.

(A) Schematic of sequential co-culture experiments (B) Representative flow cytometry resulted of sequential co-culture for 24 hours in each round are shown. (C) The number of Target cells, after sequential co-culture with NALM-6 for 24 hours in each round at ratio E:T of 1:1. (D) The number of Total T cells, after sequential co-culture with NALM-6 for 24 hours in each round at ratio E:T of 1:1. *P*-value significance is indicated as \* for P<0.05, \*\* for P<0.01, \*\*\* for P<0.001, \*\*\*\* for P<0.001. Data represents is mean ± SEM (n = 3).

# SR cultured PB CD-19 CAR T cells exhibited lower early activation marker with similar exhaustion profile after multiple rounds of antigen exposure.

To further investigate the effects of distinct serum supplement on the immunophenotype of PB CAR T cell. We analyzed the expression of exhaustion and activation markers after each round of antigen exposure. We found that the expression level of exhaustion markers wasn't different in all conditions (Figure 24A, 24B, 24C and 24D). This was also observed in the 7-day co-culture experiment where differential serum supplement did not impact CAR T cell exhaustion phenotype after prolong antigen stimulation (supplementary figure 1). However, for activation markers, SR group exhibited lower expression of CD69 but not CD25 after each round of tumor rechallenge comparing with other conditions (Figure 24E and 24F). In summary, exhaustion and CD25 marker were comparable in all conditions but lower expression of

CD69 were observed in SR group.



Figure 24 PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells expressed inhibitory molecules and activation molecules after sequential co-culture with leukemia cells (NALM6). PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells were sequential co-cultured with leukemia cancer cell line (NALM6) at Effector: Target (E:T) ratio 1:1 without cytokine. (A) The percentage of PD-1 (B) TIGIT (C) LAG3 (D) TIM3 (E) CD25 and (F) CD69 expressing on different serum supplements (FBS, HS, HPL, and SR) at ratio 1:1 for 24 hours in each round. *P*-value significance is indicated as \* for P<0.05, \*\* for P<0.01, \*\*\* for P<0.001. Data represents is mean  $\pm$  SEM (n = 3).

#### **CHAPTER 5**

#### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

In the present study, the influence of different serum supplements on immune characteristics and function of PiggyBac based CAR T cell were evaluated. We have reported that different source of serum supplements did not affect cell expansion rate, T cell subset, as well as PB transfection efficiency. However, expansion of PB CD19 CAR T cell using serum-free chemical reagent SR resulted in a higher percentage of naïve T cells; a preferable phenotype for *in vivo* persistence. Although the tumor elimination rate was not altered by different type of serum supplement, CAR T cells cultivated in SR-supplemented culture media exhibited better proliferate rate and increased IL-4 secretion upon antigen exposure, when comparing with those expanded with standard FBS, xeno-free HS or xeno-free HPL.

**GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

It has been known that memory phenotype of CAR T cell has an impact on the treatment outcome after CAR T cell administration [52]. Previous preclinical studies have provided evidence that naïve and stem cells like memory T cell are crucial for *in vivo* expansion, survival, and long-term persistence of CAR T cell [53] which corresponding to the finding from clinical study reported that a higher percentage of naïve T cells in the infused product resulting in higher post-infusion expansion and better response [54]. In this study, we observed more naïve phenotype in PB CD19 CAR T cell cultivated with

SR supplements culture media comparing with standard FBS HS and HPL supplements culture media. Similar finding has been observed in activated T cell and virus specific T cell expansion using SR supplemented culture condition which show less differentiated T cell memory immunophenotype comparing with FBS and SR supplemented culture condition [51, 55].

To further study the effects of serum supplement on T cell exhaustion, we set up a tumor rechallenge assay, that allows CAR T cell to encounter target antigen for multiple rounds. However, our PB CD19 CAR T cells, regardless of cultivation with different serum supplements, could sustain killing activity without significantly upregulation of exhaustion makers. Therefore, the differential effect of serum supplement on T cell exhaustion was not detected in our study. A previous study by Nakamura et al. demonstrated that PiggyBac anti-HER2 CAR T cells exhibited potent and sustained killing activity against target cells even after multiple rounds of tumor rechallenge without rendering T cell exhaustion. The relatively lower T cell exhaustion in PB based CAR T cell can be partly due to the transfection process that does not require T cell activation [47].

Interestingly, SR cultured CD19 PiggyBac CAR T cell exhibited better proliferation after multiple rounds of tumor rechallenged, which could be related to the higher level of naïve phenotype. In addition, we also observed a significant increase in IL-4 secretion in SR cultured CAR T cell which could contribute to better T cell proliferation. IL-4 is a known growth factor for activated T cells and enhanced T cell proliferation after initial activation [56, 57]. Besides, IL-4 is shown to be produced by naïve T cells and regulate CD8 T cell development, proliferation, and function [58, 59]. Recent study also showed that both viral based and non-viral transduced CD19 CAR T cell exhibit significantly higher IL-4 level after antigen stimulation comparing with activated T cell which could lead to CAR T cell expansion [46].

On the other hand, we found a higher level of IL-2, IL-10 and IL-6 secretion in HPL cultured CAR T cell. IL-2 is known as a T cell growth factor that supports the proliferation and survival of T cells along with the generation of effector and memory T cells. Unfortunately, IL-2 also stimulates proliferation and enhances the function of other T-cells such as natural killer (NK) cells and B-cells [60].

Interleukin-10 (IL-10) has a role as a major immune suppressive factor that was significant for induction of tolerance through inhibition of TH1 immune response and T-cell cytotoxic activity [61]. IL-10 can impair the proliferation, cytokine production, and migratory capacities of effector T cells by acting directly on CD4 T cells to induce non-responsiveness or T cell anergy [62, 63]. Also, IL-10 can promote tumor immune escape by declining the anti-tumor response in the tumor microenvironment [64]. Previous publications reveal that IL-10 can be produced by the tumor cells and IL-10 can prevent the antigen-specific proliferation of human T cells by inhibiting the antigen-presenting capacity of monocytes through the downregulation of class 2 MHC, co-stimulation, and

adhesion molecules [63, 64]. Therefore, overproduction of IL-10 induces the failure to control tumour immunogenicity. In patients, IL-10 has been described in the tumor-microenvironment of different type of cancers and clearly linked to poor prognosis [62].

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine that has a crucial role in the regulation of innate immunity, inflammation, and hematopoiesis [65]. IL-6 also affects T cells by inducing the specific differentiation of naive T cells into effector T-cells [66]. The overproduction of IL-6 and uncontrolled its signaling are important to the pathogenesis of cytokine storms and can lead to severe acute inflammatory disease. Increasing IL-6 levels were observed in patients with pediatric and adult B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia who received CAR T cell therapy with cytokine storm, implying IL-6 has a major role in the progression and severity of cytokine storms. Furthermore, recent evidence in a patient who was administered CD19-targeted CAR T cells identified endothelial cells as major IL-6 producing cells that were responsible for the cytokine storm development and associated with vascular dysfunction due to endothelial activation [67].

Besides, Cytokine release syndrome (CRS) is one of the most clinically significant and feasibly life-threatening toxicities [68]. CRS is a systemic immune storm that involves the mass cytokines released after CAR-T cell therapy[69]. This phenomenon causes multisystem trauma, potentially life-threatening, and sometimes mortality. In the setting of CRS, a significant increase in interleukin-6 is noticed, in association with elevations of other cytokines such as interleukin-10 and interleukin-2
[69]. It is concluded that HPL cultured CAR T cells may not be suitable to use as an alternative serum supplement for piggyBac CD19 production in clinical setting.

This study also showed that SR cultivated PB CD-19 CAR T cell exhibit lower expression of CD69 during sequential experiments. CD69 is an early activation marker of T cells. Generally, the expression of CD69 is transient and peaks after stimulation then it will diminish 18–24 h afterward [70]. The lower expression of CD69 in SR could possibly related to the enrichment of the naïve phenotype since previous evidence suggest that naïve T cells in peripheral blood had lower expression of CD69 (<0.1% expression) compared with central memory T cells (2% expression) and effector memory T cells (3% expression) [70, 71].

The limitations in this study including the unidentified components of each serum supplements that gave the different cytokine secretion pattern and different of memory phenotype. Secondly, the memory phenotype results didn't interpretation from CAR positive molecule because we select the CD3 positive molecule to analyze that mean these results may be interfered by untransduced T cells. Also, we didn't confirm the memory phenotype after co-culturing to ensure the memory phenotype of remaining cells.

In conclusion, our findings demonstrate the feasibility of using SR, a chemically defined supplement as an alternative serum source for CD19 PiggyBac CAR T cells production to support the expansion, function, and maintained less differentiated T cells.

Using xeno-free and serum-free media can offer advantages such as a defined media composition, and reduced risk of infectious contamination in GMP compliance manufacturing of CAR T cells.



## APPENDIX A



Supplement Figure 1 The detailed exhaustion and activation markers of PiggyBac CD19 CAR T cells that co-cultured with leukemia cancer cell line (NALM6) at Effector: Target (E:T) ratio 1:5 without cytokine for 7 days.

(A) The percentage of PD-1 (B) TIGIT (C) LAG3 (D) TIM3 (E) CD25 and (F) CD69 expressing on different serum supplements (FBS,HS, and SR) at ratio 1:5 for 7 days.



## REFERENCES



**Chulalongkorn University** 

[1] Feins S, Kong W, Williams EF, Milone MC, Fraietta JA. An introduction to chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell immunotherapy for human cancer. American journal of hematology. 2019;94(S1):S3-S9.

Levine BL, Miskin J, Wonnacott K, Keir C. Global manufacturing of CAR T cell [2] therapy. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development. 2017;4:92-101.

[3] Lee Y-H, Kim CH. Evolution of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy: current status and future perspectives. Archives of pharmacal research. 2019;42(7):607-

16.

Fried S, Avigdor A, Bielorai B, Meir A, Besser MJ, Schachter J, et al. Early and [4] late hematologic toxicity following CD19 CAR-T cells. Bone marrow transplantation. 2019;54(10):1643-50.

[5] Yip A, Webster RM. The market for chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapies. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2018;17(3):161.

[6] Sadelain M. CAR therapy: the CD19 paradigm. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2015;125(9):3392-400.

Zhang C, Liu J, Zhong JF, Zhang X. Engineering car-t cells. Biomarker research. [7] 2017;5(1):1-6.

[8] Guedan S, Calderon H, Posey Jr AD, Maus MV. Engineering and design of chimeric antigen receptors. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development. 2019;12:145-56.

[9] Abreu TR, Fonseca NA, Gonçalves N, Moreira JN. Current challenges and emerging opportunities of CAR-T cell therapies. Journal of Controlled Release. 2020;319:246-61.

[10] June CH, O'Connor RS, Kawalekar OU, Ghassemi S, Milone MC. CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer. Science. 2018;359(6382):1361-5.

[11] Gee AP. GMP CAR-T cell production. Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology. 2018;31(2):126-34.

[12] Vormittag P, Gunn R, Ghorashian S, Veraitch FS. A guide to manufacturing CART cell therapies. Current opinion in biotechnology. 2018;53:164-81.

[13] Wang X, Rivière I. Clinical manufacturing of CAR T cells: foundation of a promising therapy. Molecular Therapy-Oncolytics. 2016;3:16015.

[14] Roddie C, O'Reilly M, Pinto JDA, Vispute K, Lowdell M. Manufacturing chimeric antigen receptor T cells: issues and challenges. Cytotherapy. 2019;21(3):327-40.

[15] Poorebrahim M, Sadeghi S, Fakhr E, Abazari MF, Poortahmasebi V, Kheirollahi

A, et al. Production of CAR T-cells by GMP-grade lentiviral vectors: latest advances and

future prospects. Critical reviews in clinical laboratory sciences. 2019;56(6):393-419.

[16] Milone MC, O'Doherty U. Clinical use of lentiviral vectors. Leukemia. 2018;32(7):1529-41.

[17] Bishop DC, Xu N, Tse B, O'Brien TA, Gottlieb DJ, Dolnikov A, et al. PiggyBacengineered T cells expressing CD19-specific CARs that lack IgG1 Fc spacers have potent activity against B-ALL xenografts. Molecular Therapy. 2018;26(8):1883-95.

[18] Galvan DL, Nakazawa Y, Kaja A, Kettlun C, Cooper LJ, Rooney CM, et al. Genome-wide mapping of PiggyBac transposon integrations in primary human T cells. Journal of immunotherapy (Hagerstown, Md: 1997). 2009;32(8):837.

[19] Yang LR, Li L, Meng MY, Wang WJ, Yang SL, Zhao YY, et al. Evaluation of piggyBac-mediated anti-CD19 CAR-T cells after ex vivo expansion with aAPCs or magnetic beads. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine. 2021;25(2):686-700.
[20] Nakazawa Y, Huye LE, Dotti G, Foster AE, Vera JF, Manuri PR, et al. Optimization of the PiggyBac transposon system for the sustained genetic modification of human T-

lymphocytes. Journal of immunotherapy (Hagerstown, Md: 1997). 2009;32(8):826.

[21] Wu SC-Y, Meir Y-JJ, Coates CJ, Handler AM, Pelczar P, Moisyadi S, et al. piggyBac is a flexible and highly active transposon as compared to sleeping beauty, Tol2, and Mos1 in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2006;103(41):15008-13. [22] Zheng Y, Li Z-R, Yue R, Fu Y-L, Liu Z-Y, Feng H-Y, et al. PiggyBac transposon system with polymeric gene carrier transfected into human T cells. American journal of translational research. 2019;11(11):7126.

[23] Woodard LE, Wilson MH. piggyBac-ing models and new therapeutic strategies.Trends in biotechnology. 2015;33(9):525-33.

[24] Morita D, Nishio N, Saito S, Tanaka M, Kawashima N, Okuno Y, et al. Enhanced expression of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor in piggyBac transposon-engineered T cells. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development. 2018;8:131-40.

[25] Nor A, Othman H, Razak YHWA. Serum in mammalian cell culture: weighing the challenges of bioprocessing, ethics and animal welfare. Advances in Natural and Applied Sciences. 2012;6(5):596-600.

[26] Coecke S, Balls M, Bowe G, Davis J, Gstraunthaler G, Hartung T, et al. Guidance on good cell culture practice: a report of the second ECVAM task force on good cell culture practice. Alternatives to Laboratory Animals. 2005;33(3):261-87.

[27] Karnieli O, Friedner OM, Allickson JG, Zhang N, Jung S, Fiorentini D, et al. A consensus introduction to serum replacements and serum-free media for cellular therapies. Cytotherapy. 2017;19(2):155-69.

[28] Hemeda H, Giebel B, Wagner W. Evaluation of human platelet lysate versus fetal bovine serum for culture of mesenchymal stromal cells. Cytotherapy. 2014;16(2):170-80.

[29] Saury C, Lardenois A, Schleder C, Leroux I, Lieubeau B, David L, et al. Human serum and platelet lysate are appropriate xeno-free alternatives for clinical-grade production of human MuStem cell batches. Stem cell research & therapy. 2018;9(1):1-20.

[30] Tateishi K, Ando W, Higuchi C, Hart D, Hashimoto J, Nakata K, et al. Comparison of human serum with fetal bovine serum for expansion and differentiation of human synovial MSC: potential feasibility for clinical applications. Cell transplantation. 2008;17(5):549-57.

[31] Mohamed HE, Asker ME, Kotb NS, El Habab AM. Human platelet lysate efficiency, stability, and optimal heparin concentration required in culture of mammalian cells. Blood research. 2020;55(1):35.

[32] Canestrari E, Steidinger HR, McSwain B, Charlebois SJ, Dann CT. Human platelet lysate media supplement supports lentiviral transduction and expansion of human T lymphocytes while maintaining memory phenotype. Journal of immunology research. 2019;2019.

[33] Medvec AR, Ecker C, Kong H, Winters EA, Glover J, Varela-Rohena A, et al. Improved expansion and in vivo function of patient T cells by a serum-free medium. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development. 2018;8:65-74.

[34] Froud S. The development, benefits and disadvantages of serum-free media.Developments in biological standardization. 1999;99:157-66.

[35] Alnabhan R, Gaballa A, Mörk L-M, Mattsson J, Uhlin M, Magalhaes I. Media evaluation for production and expansion of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T cells. Cytotherapy. 2018;20(7):941-51.

[36] Callahan C, Baniewicz D, Ely B. CAR T-Cell Therapy. Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2017;21(2).

[37] Park JH, Geyer MB, Brentjens RJ. CD19-targeted CAR T-cell therapeutics for hematologic malignancies: interpreting clinical outcomes to date. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 2016;127(26):3312-20.

[38] Zhao X, Yang J, Zhang X, Lu X-A, Xiong M, Zhang J, et al. Efficacy and safety of CD28-or 4-1BB-based CD19 CAR-T cells in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Molecular Therapy-Oncolytics. 2020;18:272-81.

[39] Gupta A, Gill S. CAR-T cell persistence in the treatment of leukemia and lymphoma. Leukemia & lymphoma. 2021;62(11):2587-99.

[40] Chan JD, Lai J, Slaney CY, Kallies A, Beavis PA, Darcy PK. Cellular networks controlling T cell persistence in adoptive cell therapy. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2021;21(12):769-84.

[41] Han D, Xu Z, Zhuang Y, Ye Z, Qian Q. Current progress in CAR-T cell therapy for hematological malignancies. Journal of Cancer. 2021;12(2):326.

[42] Cappell KM, Sherry RM, Yang JC, Goff SL, Vanasse DA, McIntyre L, et al. Longterm follow-up of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2020;38(32):3805.

[43] Shah NN, Lee DW, Yates B, Yuan CM, Shalabi H, Martin S, et al. Long-term follow-up of CD19-CAR T-cell therapy in children and young adults with B-ALL. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2021;39(15):1650.

[44] Lukjanov V, Koutná I, Šimara P. CAR T-Cell Production Using Nonviral Approaches. Journal of Immunology Research. 2021;2021.

[45] Moretti A, Ponzo M, Nicolette CA, Tcherepanova IY, Biondi A, Magnani CF. The past, present, and future of non-viral CAR T cells. Frontiers in Immunology. 2022:2501.

[46] Lin Z, Liu X, Liu T, Gao H, Wang S, Zhu X, et al. Evaluation of Nonviral piggyBac and lentiviral Vector in Functions of CD19chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells and Their Antitumor Activity for CD19+ Tumor Cells. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021;12.

[47] Nakamura K, Yagyu S, Hirota S, Tomida A, Kondo M, Shigeura T, et al. Autologous antigen-presenting cells efficiently expand piggyBac transposon CAR-T cells with predominant memory phenotype. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development. 2021;21:315-24.

[48] Suematsu M, Yagyu S, Nagao N, Kubota S, Shimizu Y, Tanaka M, et al. Piggybac Transposon Mediated CD19 CAR-T Cells Derived from CD45RA-Positive PBMCs Possess Potent and Sustained Antileukemic Function. Blood. 2021;138:2807. [49] Ghassemi S, Martinez-Becerra FJ, Master AM, Richman SA, Heo D, Leferovich J, et al. Enhancing Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Anti-tumor Function through Advanced Media Design. Molecular Therapy-Methods & Clinical Development. 2020;18:595-606.

[50] Chavez AT, McKenna MK, Canestrari E, Dann CT, Ramos CA, Lulla P, et al. Expanding CAR T cells in human platelet lysate renders T cells with in vivo longevity. Journal for immunotherapy of cancer. 2019;7(1):1-15.

[51] Schjetne KW, Økern G, Kuligowski S, Aarvak T. Xeno-free serum replacement for ex vivo culture and expansion of T cells. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. 2014;2(3):1-.

[52] Golubovskaya V, Wu L. Different subsets of T cells, memory, effector functions, and CAR-T immunotherapy. Cancers. 2016;8(3):36.

[53] Xu Y, Zhang M, Ramos CA, Durett A, Liu E, Dakhova O, et al. Closely related Tmemory stem cells correlate with in vivo expansion of CAR. CD19-T cells and are preserved by IL-7 and IL-15. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 2014;123(24):3750-9.

[54] Klaver Y, Van Steenbergen SC, Sleijfer S, Debets R, Lamers CH. T cell maturation stage prior to and during GMP processing informs on CAR T cell expansion in patients. Frontiers in immunology. 2016;7:648.

[55] Smith C, Økern G, Rehan S, Beagley L, Lee SK, Aarvak T, et al. Ex vivo expansion of human T cells for adoptive immunotherapy using the novel Xeno-free CTS immune cell serum replacement. Clinical & translational immunology. 2015;4(1):e31.

[56] Mitchell L, Davis L, Lipsky P. Promotion of human T lymphocyte proliferation byIL-4. The Journal of Immunology. 1989;142(5):1548-57.

[57] Banchereau J, editor Biological Properties of Human Interleukin-41990; Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

[58] Silva-Filho J, Caruso-Neves C, Pinheiro A. IL-4: an important cytokine in determining the fate of T cells. Biophysical reviews. 2014;6(1):111-8.

[59] Park H-J, Lee A, Lee J-I, Park SH, Ha S-J, Jung KC. Effect of IL-4 on the Development and Function of Memory-like CD8 T Cells in the Peripheral Lymphoid Tissues. Immune network. 2016;16(2):126-33.

[60] Majidpoor J, Mortezaee K. Interleukin-2 therapy of cancer-clinical perspectives. International Immunopharmacology. 2021;98:107836.

[61] Dennis KL, Blatner NR, Gounari F, Khazaie K. Current status of IL-10 and regulatory T-cells in cancer. Current opinion in oncology. 2013;25(6):637.

[62] Saraiva M, Vieira P, O'garra A. Biology and therapeutic potential of interleukin-10. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2020;217(1).

[63] Ma X. Regulation of cytokine gene expression in immunity and diseases: Springer; 2016. [64] Mannino MH, Zhu Z, Xiao H, Bai Q, Wakefield MR, Fang Y. The paradoxical role of IL-10 in immunity and cancer. Cancer letters. 2015;367(2):103-7.

[65] Nishimoto N, Kishimoto T. Interleukin 6: from bench to bedside. Nature clinical practice Rheumatology. 2006;2(11):619-26.

[66] Tanaka T, Kishimoto T. The biology and medical implications of interleukin-6.Cancer immunology research. 2014;2(4):288-94.

[67] Kishimoto T, Kang S. IL-6 Revisited: From Rheumatoid Arthritis to CAR T Cell Therapy and COVID-19. Annual Review of Immunology. 2022;40:323-48.

[68] Chen H, Wang F, Zhang P, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Fan X, et al. Management of cytokine release syndrome related to CAR-T cell therapy. Frontiers of medicine. 2019;13(5):610-7.

[69] Smith LT, Venella K. Cytokine Release Syndrome. Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing. 2017;21(2).

[70] Radulovic K, Niess JH. CD69 is the crucial regulator of intestinal inflammation: a new target molecule for IBD treatment? Journal of immunology research. 2015;2015.

[71] Sallusto F, Lenig D, Förster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory

T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature. 1999;401(6754):708-12.

## VITA

NAME	Mulita Sanyanusin
DATE OF BIRTH	11 May 1993
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok, Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	King Mongkut's Institute of Technology Ladkrabang
HOME ADDRESS	135/1-4 Sangchuto road, Ban-Tai subdistrict, Mueang district, Kanchanaburi 71000
PUBLICATION	none
AWARD RECEIVED	none

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University